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I. 
Introduction


Plaintiffs filed their Bill of Complaint on June 26, 2001 and their First Amended Bill of Complaint on August 10, 2001.  The Amended Bill of Complaint alleged that the House of Delegates and Senatorial legislative districts were gerrymandered on the basis of race, political affiliation, and gender, that the districts are not comprised of “contiguous and compact territory” as mandated by Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution, and that the districts were unequally represented because the Commonwealth did not use adjusted census figures.  After argument of the parties and consideration of the Court, the counts alleging political and gender gerrymandering and unequal representation were dismissed for failure of the plaintiffs to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.  Defendants filed their Answer and Grounds of Defense on September 22, 2001.  The Court conducted the trial and heard the evidence of the parties on September 20, 21, and 22, 2001.


Of the two issues remaining before the Court, Count IV alleges that Senate Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18, and House of Delegates Districts 49, 62, 64, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 89, 90, 91, 92, 95, and 100 are in violation of the contiguous and compactness requirements of Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution.  Count I challenges the constitutionality of Senate Districts 2, 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18, and House of Delegates Districts 49, 62, 63, 64, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 89, 90, 91, 92, and 95, which are alleged to be racially gerrymandered in violation of Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11 of the Constitution of Virginia.


Each of the Plaintiffs resides, votes, and alleges injuries in his or her respective House of Delegates or Senate district, which is the subject of Plaintiffs’ challenge that “the 2001 plans are, in operation and effect, nothing more than racial segregation….  By dividing voters on racial lines and ‘packing’ as many minority voters as possible into just a few newly-created political communities—communities with no other historical, residential, or geographic basis whatsoever—the 2001 plans minimize the political influence of minorities.”  (Am. Bill of Compl., ¶ 12.)  The Court finds each Plaintiff has standing to challenge their respective districts under Article I of the Constitution of Virginia.  


Defendants’ Motion to Strike Counts I and IV of Plaintiffs’ Amended Bill of Complaint having been taken under advisement and the Court having duly considered said motion now overrules same and decides the case on its merits.

II.
Background


The General Assembly received the official U.S. census data on March 8, 2001.  The data revealed that Virginia’s population had grown 14.4% over the previous decade, from 6,187,350 in 1990 to 7,078,515 in 2000.  In that time, the rural areas of Western and Southern Virginia and many of the central cities in the State had either lost population or had less growth than Northern Virginia and other suburban areas.  The constitutional requirements of equal representation made adjustments in the electoral districts mandatory acts to be performed.


The Senate Privileges and Elections Committee (“Senate P&E Committee”) and the House of Delegates’ Privileges and Elections Committee (“House P&E Committee”) (jointly, “P&E Committees”) adopted identical resolutions setting forth the criteria for redrawing their respective districts on April 3, 2001.


The P&E Committees adopted the following criteria:

I. Population equality.

The population of legislative districts shall be determined solely according to the enumeration established by the 2000 federal census.  The population of each district shall be as nearly equal to the population of every other district as practicable.  Population deviations should be within plus or minus two percent.

II. Voting Rights Act.

Districts shall be drawn in accordance with the laws of the United States and the Commonwealth of Virginia including compliance with protections against the unwarranted retrogression or dilution of racial or ethnic minority voting strength.  Nothing in these guidelines shall be construed to require or permit any districting policy or action that is contrary to the United States Constitution or the Voting Rights Act of 1965.

III.
Contiguity and Compactness.

Districts shall be comprised of contiguous territory including adjoining insular territory.  Contiguity by water is sufficient.  Districts shall be contiguous and compact in accordance with the Constitution of Virginia as interpreted by the Virginia Supreme Court in the recent case of Jamerson v. Womack, 244 Va. 506 (1992).

IV. Single-Member Districts.

All districts shall be single-member districts.

V. Communities of Interest.

Districts shall be based on legislative consideration of the varied factors that can create or contribute to communities of interest.  These factors may include, among others, economic factors, social factors, cultural factors, geographic features, government jurisdictions, and service delivery areas, political beliefs, voting trends and incumbency considerations….  The discernment, weighing, and balancing of the varied factors that contribute to communities of interest is an intensely political process best carried out by elected representatives of the people.  Local government jurisdiction and precinct lines may reflect communities of interest to be balanced, but they are entitled to no greater weight as a matter of state policy than other identifiable communities of interest.  

VI. Priority.

All of the foregoing criteria shall be considered in the districting process, but population equality among the districts and compliance with federal and state constitutional requirements and the Voting Rights Act of 1965 shall be given priority in the event of conflict among the criteria.  Where the application of any of the foregoing criteria may cause a violation of applicable federal or state law, there may be such deviation from the criteria as is necessary, but no more that is necessary, to avoid such violation.  

(Defs.’ Ex. 20, 26.)

Thereafter, joint hearings were scheduled throughout the state to discuss the redistricting process with constituents.   The General Assembly, after receiving proposed bills and amendments, passed Senate Bill 1 (“SB-1”) and House Bill 1 (“HB-1”) on April 18, 2001, which were signed by the Governor on April 21, 2001.  The Attorney General of the United States granted pre-clearance to HB-1 on June 15, 2001 and SB-1 on July 9, 2001.

The Court is aware that reapportionment “is, in a sense, political and necessarily wide discretion is given to the legislative body.”  Brown v. Saunders, 159 Va. 28, 36, 166 S.E. 105, 107 (1932). Furthermore, the Brown Court recognized that “the Constitution of Virginia places limitations on the discretion of the legislature, and whether or not the act in question exceeds those limitations becomes a judicial question when raised by the proper parties in a proper proceeding.”  Id.  (discussing Va. Const. of 1902, § 55.)  

“Legislative determinations of fact upon which the constitutionality of a statute may depend bind the courts unless clearly erroneous, arbitrary, or wholly unwarranted.” Jamerson v. Womack, 244 Va. 506, 509, 423 S.E.2d 180, 182 (1992), see also Bristol Redevelopment and Housing Authority v. Denton, 198 Va. 171, 176, 93 S.E.2d 288, 292 (1956).  Furthermore, “[i]f the question is fairly debatable and the legislative determination is not manifestly arbitrary or unreasonable, it must be sustained.” Denton, 198 Va. at 176, 93 S.E.2d at 292 (citation omitted).  However, it is well established that  “[l]egislative conclusions based on findings of fact are not immune from judicial review where they are arbitrary and unwarranted.” Denton, 198 Va. at 176-177, 93 S.E.2d at 292.

The Court recognizes “the ‘strong presumption of validity’ attached to every statute and the requirement that it ‘clearly’ violate some constitutional provision before courts will invalidate it.”  Jamerson, 244 Va. at 510, 423 S.E.2d at 182 (quoting Caldwell v. Seaboard  System Railroad, 238 Va. 148, 152, 380 S.E.2d 910, 912 (1989)).  “Thus, courts ‘have nothing to do with the question whether or not legislation is wise or proper’ [and] only where the statute in issue is ‘plainly repugnant’ to a constitutional provision will [the court] declare it null and void.” Jamerson, 244 Va. at 510, 423 S.E.2d at 182 (quoting City of Charlottesville v. DeHann, 228 Va. 578, 583-84, 232 S.E.2d 131, 133 (1984)).  

The Court acknowledges that the General Assembly is bound by certain conditions imposed by Federal law in reapportioning electoral districts.  First, as explained in Jamerson, Article 1, § 2 of the United States Constitution requires the legislature to adhere to the principle of  “equal representation for equal numbers of people,” or, as otherwise stated “one person, one vote.”  Jamerson, 244 Va. at 511, 423 S.E.2d at 182 (quoting Wesberry v. Sanders, 376 U.S. 1, 18, (1964)).  See also, U.S. Const. art. I,  § 2 (mandating equal representation for Congressional representation); Va. Const. art. II, § 6 (mandating equal representation within every electoral district).

Additionally, the electoral process and reapportionment in Virginia must comply with the provisions of the Federal Voting Rights Act, 42 §§ 1971-73bb, pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution and the Fourteenth Amendment. U.S. Const. art. IV, cl. 2; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. As applied to the issues at bar, the Court recognizes that the legislature was required to ensure that there was no retrogression within majority-minority districts and no dilution of the minority voting strength.  See 42 USC § 1971 (2001); 42 USC § 1973 (c) (2001) [hereinafter § 5]. 

III. Contiguous and Compact Territorial Requirement

The plaintiffs’ assertion that some electoral districts are not “composed of contiguous compact territory” affects both of their claims for relief—not just their claim that the 2001 redistricting is invalid because it violates the mandate of Article II, § 6.  This is so because during the last decade the United States Supreme Court repeatedly has held that when it is alleged that race was the primary consideration in forming electoral districts—the allegation of Count I of the plaintiffs’ Amended Bill—Courts must examine whether those districts were created in accordance with “traditional districting principles.”  Shaw v. Reno (Shaw I), 509 U.S. 630, 642 (1993); Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 916 (1995); Bush v. Vera, 517 U.S. 952, 958-59 (1996).  Since Shaw I, the Court has identified seven “traditional districting principles.”  Chief among them, in the Supreme Court’s jurisprudence, are compactness and contiguity.  

These seven factors are compactness, contiguity, preservation of political subdivisions, preservations of communities of interest, preservation of cores of prior districts, protection of incumbents, and compliance with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.  Shaw I, 509 U.S. at 647; Vera, 517 U.S. at 959-60; Abrams v. Johnson, 521 U.S. 74, (1997); Shaw v. Hunt (Shaw II), 517 U.S. 899, 912 (1996).  In earlier cases, the Supreme Court of Virginia had spoken of some of these as “factors to be considered in reapportionment cases” or as “customs.”  Jamerson, 244 Va. at 514, 423 S.E.2d at 184.


Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution mandates that “[e]very electoral district shall be composed of contiguous and compact territory.” In Jamerson, the complainants contended that the General Assembly violated the compactness requirement of Article II, § 6 because Senate Districts 15 and 18 were not compact in either “content or in form.” Jamerson, 244 at 514, 423 S.E.2d at 184.  The Supreme Court rejected the notion that legislative districts must be “compact in content” and held that “the use of the words ‘contiguous and compact,’ as joint modifiers of the word ‘territory’ in Article II, § 6, clearly limits their meaning as definitions of spatial restrictions in the composition of electoral districts.”  Id. at 514, 423 S.E.2d at 184 (emphasis added).  These districts must, by the clear language of the Constitution, be composed of territory. 

Plaintiffs allege that Senate Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18, and House of Delegates Districts 49, 62, 64, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 89, 90, 91, 92, 95, and 100 are not “composed of contiguous and compact territory,” and therefore are unconstitutional.  However, Defendants assert that the challenged districts are contiguous and compact, as defined by the legislature and in accordance with prior decisions by the Supreme Court of Virginia.

A. Defining “Compact” in its Constitutional Context
Other than stating that the term “compact” under Article II, § 6 is a “spatial restriction,” there is little guidance to help the Court determine whether a legislative district is or is not compact.  In the presentation of this case, the parties, perhaps, not heeding the teaching of Jamerson, attempt to parse “contiguous” and “compact” from their joint context.  The Court is required to discuss the parties’ evidence, and the process of defining “contiguous and compact,” in constitutional context.

Plaintiffs’ expert, Dr. Lublin, and Defendants’ expert, Dr. Webster, each testified regarding the compactness of the challenged districts and each attempted to severe “compact” from “contiguous.”  Using the same census data and measures to determine the compactness of the challenged districts, both arrived at essentially the same findings and conclusions.  Dr. Webster’s testimony was that by either the Reock (geographic dispersion method)
 or the Polsby-Popper (perimeter compactness method)
 measures, the districts were generally considered reasonably compact.  (R., Vol. II at 114.)  Dr. Lublin’s testimony discussed the compactness of the challenged House and Senate districts in relation to all of the House and Senate districts, but he did not provide an opinion as to whether any particular district was non-compact.  (R., Vol. I at 43-76.)  While several districts had measures that were relatively low, there was no testimony that any particular district was unacceptably non-compact according to either of the measures applied by the experts.

As defined, compact means “firmly put together, joined, or integrated; marked by arrangement of parts or units closely pressed, packed, or grouped … with very slight intervals or intervening spaces; marked by concentration in a limited area.”  Webster’s Third International Dictionary 461 (1993); “”[h]aving the parts so arranged that the whole lies within relatively small compass, without straggling portions or members; nearly and tightly packed or arranged; not sprawling, scattered, or diffuse." The Oxford English Dictionary (2d ed., 1999 CD-ROM).
  Trial courts are commanded to “appl[y] the ordinary and customary meaning of [a] word as it [is] defined in the dictionary.”  Transcontinental Insurance v. RBMW, 262 Va. 502, 511, 551 S.E.2d 313, 317 (2001).


The general definition and testimony of the experts is helpful, however considering the “spatial” nature of compactness and its application in Jamerson, no bright line definition can be applied to determine whether a district is compact.  The Court must examine each district in context of its geographical form and structure in relation to other portions of the district in order to determine whether they are closely and compactly packed together.  Though the opinions of experts may assist the court in reaching its ultimate determination, the Court is not bound by their testimony, cf. Rappold v . Indiana Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company, 246 Va. 10, 15-16, 431 S.E.2d. 302, 306 (1993).  This Court would abuse its discretion if, as the trier of fact, it abrogated its duty to the experts.

B. Defining “Contiguous” in its Constitutional Context. 

The Supreme Court of Virginia has not been called upon to determine the meaning of “contiguous” as used in Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution.  The Court has addressed the issue of contiguity of land in a variety of other contexts and situations, which provide some guidance for the case at bar.  Under familiar principles the Court must assume that those who drafted and adopted the Constitution of 1971 carefully chose the words they used, knowing how those words had been construed in the past.  Cf. Chesterfield County v. Stigall, 262 Va. 697, 704, 554 S.E.2d 49 (2001).  When Constitutional language is “clear and unambiguous,” interpretation is unnecessary.  Commonwealth v. VEPCO, 214 Va. 457, 464, 201 S.E.2d 771 (1974).

In this examination, the Court must notice that, at the same time that the P&E Committee Resolutions commanded fidelity to Jamerson in the determination of “contiguous and compact territory,” the resolutions introduced a new concept to Virginia, i.e. that “contiguity by water is sufficient.”  The Jamerson opinion contains the language of the 1991 Joint P&E Resolution.  Jamerson, 244 Va. at 512, 423 S.E.2d at 183.  Neither it nor anything else presented to, or discovered by, the Court indicates that the General Assembly previously had employed such language.  An understanding of “contiguity” within the concept of “contiguous and compact” must begin with established Supreme Court construction, which, though not in redistricting cases, is on-point and instructive.  First Virginia Bank of Tidewater v. Commonwealth, 212, Va. 654, 187 S.E.2d 186 (1972), and the General Assembly’s response to that decision, merit careful attention.  

One year after the current Constitution was adopted, the Court was called upon in First Virginia Bank to determine the meaning of contiguous, as used in Va. Code § 6.1-39(c) (repealed 1986).  This statutory provision permitted the State Corporation Commission, under certain conditions, to allow the establishment of branch banks in cities or counties “contiguous” to the city or county in which the parent bank is located.  The State Corporation Commission, in an attempt to redefine “contiguous,” interpreted “contiguous,” as used in the banking statute, to mean “economically contiguous,” rather than “geographically contiguous.”  The Court stated that “ ‘contiguous’ usually means either physically touching or in close proximity.”  Id. at 655, 187 S.E.2d at 187.  The Court determined that nothing in Va. Code § 6.1-39(c) indicated that the legislature intended an unusual meaning of “contiguous” and found nothing to justify deviation from the usual meaning of the word, and concluded that contiguous, as used in Va. Code § 6.1-39(c), meant geographical contiguity.

Only a few months before Jamerson, the Supreme Court decided Taylor v. Board of Supervisors of Northumberland County, 243 Va. 409, 416 S.E.2d 433 (1992), which stated, in part:

The term “abut” is defined as “to touch. To … be contiguous; join at a border or boundary; … border on…. The term ‘abutting’ implies a closer proximity than the term ‘adjacent.’  No intervening land.”  Black’s Law Dictionary, 11 (6th ed. 1990).  See State Highway Commissioner v. Creative Displays, 236 Va. 352, 355, 374 S.E.2d 30, 32 (1988) (“‘What is adjacent … may be separated by the intervention of some other object; what is contiguous must touch on one side.’”).

Id. at 412, 416 S.E.2d at 435.

In Holston S & P Co. v. Campbell, 89 Va. 396, 16 S.E. 274 (1892), the Court was called upon to determine the meaning of contiguous, as used in a conveyance of property.  The issue before the court was whether a deed conveying “all the estate, right, title, and interest … in the Preston Salt Works estate, and the lands contiguous thereto” included nearby property owned by the grantor that was separated by lands of a third party.  Id. at 397, 16 S.E. at 274.  The Court explained that the primary meaning of contiguous 

is “in actual contact” or “touching,” from the two latin [sic] words con and tangere. It is not synonymous with “adjacent,” although sometimes used in that sense, and vice versa. What is adjacent … may be separated by the intervention of some other object; what is contiguous must touch on one side. 


Id. at 398, 16 S.E. at 274 (citation omitted).  The Court concluded from the context of the documents that there was nothing to demonstrate that anything other that the primary meaning of contiguous was intended.  Id. at 399, 16 S.E. at 275.  Therefore, because lands of others separated the two parcels, they could not be contiguous.  Id. 


To support a broad interpretation of “contiguous” (and “contguity by water”) under Article II, § 6, defendants argue that the Attorney General’s 1984 opinion addressing the use of “contiguous” in reference to Va. Code § 24.1-46, dealing with the duties of the local registrar, supports the determination by the House and Senate P&E Committees to permit contiguity by water.  The statute provides that registrars are permitted to register voters in contiguous localities when done jointly with the other locality.  The Attorney General was asked to opine “whether lands separated by a body of water are ‘contiguous’ for the purposes of voter registration.”  84-85 Va. Att’y Gen. Op. 128.   After briefly discussing the meaning of contiguous and First Virginia Bank, the Attorney General concluded that for the purpose of Va. Code § 24.1-46, “land areas which are separated only by a body of water … may be considered ‘contiguous.’ ” Id.  The Attorney General also noted that use of the term is relative and “depends considerably on the context and the subject under consideration.”  Id.


Ironically, in 1996, when then-Attorney General Gilmore (as Governor, a named defendant in this suit) rendered an opinion about the meaning of “contiguous” in another statute, the 1984 opinion apparently was not considered persuasive.  It was neither cited or followed. 1996 Va. Att’y Gen. Op. 49.  

Relocation of a county courthouse generally must be approved by voters in a referendum.  However, under § 15.2-1646 (formerly § 15.1-561), “relocation of a courthouse to land contiguous with its present location and within the same county is not such a removal as to require authorization by the electorate.”  In his 1996 opinion, then-Attorney General Gilmore noted that 

when the General Assembly has intended that the word “contiguous” having a meaning beyond physically touching or sharing the same boundary, it has expressly so provided.  Thus, former § 24.1-46(1b) provided that, for purposes of permitting local registrars to register voters in contiguous localities, any city surrounded by a single county is to be deemed “contiguous” to the localities to which the county is contiguous.  Additionally, for the purposes of determining whether a parcel of land contains sufficient acreage to qualify for special land use taxation, § 58.1-3233(2) expressly provides that “properties separated by only a public right-of-way are considered contiguous.”

Section 15.1-561 contains no language indicating an extended meaning of “contiguous” or suggesting that the General Assembly intended that the word be broadly construed.  It is my opinion that, under the facts you present, the question of the removal of the county courthouse should be submitted to the voters.  

1996 Va. Att’y Gen. Op. 49; see also Brooks v. Painter, 225 Va. 400, 402-04, 302 S.E.2d 66 (1983)(“Territory contiguous to a highway.”); c.f. County of Greensville v. Emporia, 245 Va. 143, 427 S.E.2d 352 (1993).


The Constitution of 1971, like the statute to which Governor Gilmore referred, contains no language indicating an “extended meaning” for “contiguous” or suggesting that the word be “broadly construed.”


Subsequent to First Virginia Bank, the legislature enacted § 15.2-3210(D)
, which addresses water contiguity in the context of city boundaries for annexation, which states:

For purposes of this article, if any river in the Commonwealth is bordered on both sides by cities of a population of 100,000 or more, according to the 1970 census, to the extent that such cities' borders along the river are in opposition … the boundaries of such cities shall be the centerline of the river and such cities shall be contiguous one to the other, notwithstanding any judicial decree to the contrary entered prior to 1976.  Nothing in this subsection shall apply to that body of water known as Hampton Roads, located between Norfolk, Portsmouth and Suffolk on the south and Newport News and Hampton on the north.

Id.
This statute establishes that for the purpose of annexation contiguity by water is sufficient for Norfolk and Portsmouth, but then creates a specific exception for the Hampton Roads area, notwithstanding any previous judicial decrees to the contrary.  Thus, the legislature made its intention clear that Portsmouth and Norfolk, although separated by the Elizabeth River, are contiguous, notwithstanding the Supreme Court’s decision in First Virginia Bank.  Section 15.2-3210(D) further provides that this provision establishing water contiguity does not apply to the bodies of land that are separated by Hampton Roads, and that Newport News and Hampton, each with populations exceeding 100,000 people and on the opposite shore, are not contiguous with Norfolk, Portsmouth, and Suffolk.  


Finally, the dictionary defines “contiguous” to mean “touching along boundaries often for considerable distances, adjacent; next or adjoining with nothing similar intervening; nearby, close; continuous, unbroken, uninterrupted, touching or connected throughout.” Webster’s Third International Dictionary 492 (1993). 


“Territory” is derived from the Latin word “terr(a)” meaning land around a town or district and “ory” denoting a place.  The Random House College Dictionary 1357, 939 (1973).  
Dr. Webster used the criteria established in the House and Senate P&E Committee resolutions to evaluate the contiguity of Virginia’s districts, as a redistricting professional. (R., Vol. II at 139-140.)  Notwithstanding the 1991 criteria that Jamerson was decided upon, Dr. Webster accepted the premise set forth within the committees’ criteria that “[c]ontiguity by water is sufficient.” (Defs.’ Ex. 20 and 26.)  The 2001 criteria is far different from the 1991 criteria that the General Assembly adopted and the Supreme Court approved in Jamerson.  The 1991 General Assembly adopted resolutions for redistricting criteria that provided that:  “Districts shall be composed of contiguous territory.  Contiguity by water is acceptable to link territory within a district in order to meet the other criteria stated herein and provided that there is reasonable opportunity for travel within the district.”
 (Defs’ Ex. 39, Attach. 17-HR3.)  The Court accepts that it is a general rule of thumb that a district is considered contiguous if every part of the district is accessible to all other parts of the district without having to travel into a second district.  See e.g., Johnson v. Miller, 929 F. Supp. 1022 (D. Md. 1994); c.f. Smith v. Beasley, 946 F. Supp. 1174 (D.S.C. 1996).  The 2001 P&E Committee Resolutions command allegiance to contiguous and compact as interpreted by Jamerson, but attempts to change the critical element of contiguity that Jamerson affirmed—that “contiguity by water is acceptable to link territory within provided that there is reasonable opportunity for travel within the district” — to a different concept, which provides that mere “contiguity by water is sufficient.”  The Constitution of 1971 did not—using the words of Defendant Gilmore—indicate an “extended meaning” for “contiguous and compact” or suggest that these words be broadly construed. 1996 Va. Att’y Gen. Op. 49. 


It follows then, that the Constitutional requirement of Article II, § 6, that electoral districts be composed of contiguous and compact territory, given the usual sense of the words “contiguous and compact” and “territory,” commands the General Assembly to draw electoral districts that are both contiguous and compact.  The 2001 criteria adopted by the General Assembly, that “contiguity by water is permissible,” is not sanctified in Jamerson and thus, is in violation with Article II, § 6 of the Constitution of Virginia and must yield to said constitutional mandate.  

C. 
Senate Districts

Plaintiffs challenge Senate Districts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18 alleging that these districts are not contiguous and compact territories.
  Districts 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18 reasonably adhere to the “contiguous and compact” requirements of Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution.  The Court has no evidence as to Districts 3 and 4 and makes no finding or ruling as to those districts.


Senate District 1, composed of all of the City of Poquoson, part of York County, part of the City of Hampton and part of the City of Newport News, does not comply with the contiguous requirement of Article II, § 6 because the Poquoson-Newport News portion of the district is separated by water with no ingress or egress by motor vehicle within the district from the Hampton part of the district. (Va. Code § 24.2-303.1.) (Pls.’ Ex. 26 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach. 10 (attached).)  One must travel through Senate District 2 to get from Hampton to Poquoson or Newport News. (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Va. Dept. of Transp. Maps for the Cities of Hampton, Newport News, and Poquoson.)  The district does not comply with the “contiguous and compact” requirement of the constitution or the criteria approved in  The district does not comply with the “contiguous and compact” requirement of the constitution or the criteria approved in Jamerson. 
Senate District 2 is comprised of part of the City of Newport News, part of the City of Hampton, one precinct of the city of Suffolk and one precinct of the city of Portsmouth.  (Va. Code § 24.2-303.1.) (Pls.’ Ex. 26 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 10 (attached).)  The areas of the district constituting Newport News and Hampton are contiguous to each other; i.e. the landmass of one touches the other.  Likewise, portions of the district comprising Portsmouth and Suffolk are contiguous with each other.  However, Hampton Roads separates the landmass comprising the Newport News-Hampton part of Senate District 2 from the Portsmouth-Suffolk portion of the district.  (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.)   The only motor vehicle access from the Portsmouth-Suffolk side of the district to the Hampton-Newport News side is to travel by motor vehicle four to five miles across on the Hampton Roads Beltway (I-664). (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.) This does not provide reasonable access to all parts of the district.  The composition of this district creates an unreasonable burden on the access of its citizens to their senator.  The Court finds that because the landmasses of the district are not contiguous with each other and there is no reasonable access among all parts of the district that the district is not contiguous.  

The Court is unaware of any extraordinary necessity or other justification for Senate District 2 departing from the contiguous and compact requirement of Article II § 6.  As presently constituted, Senate District 2 does not comport with and is in violation of Article II, § 6 because neither Newport News nor Hampton, while contiguous with one another, are in actual physical contact with the lands of Portsmouth or Suffolk. Furthermore, the “spatial” relation of District 2 and its separation by four to five miles across Hampton Roads renders the district non-compact.  

Upon examination of Senate District 6, the Court cannot ignore the obvious fact that this district, composed of all of Accomack County, all of Northampton County, all of Mathews County,  part of the City of Norfolk and part of the City of Virginia Beach (Va. Code § 24.2-303.1) fails the constitutional standard of contiguous and compact territory on its face in that neither Accomack County or Northampton County touch one to the other with Mathews County, nor do either of the three touch or have actual physical contact with Norfolk or Virginia Beach.  (Pls.’ Ex. 26 & 28 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 10.) The Court also notes that there is no evidence of any access by the usual regularly used or scheduled modes of transportation, i.e. motor vehicle, watercraft, railroad, or aircraft, from Mathews to Accomack or Northampton or vice-versa or from Mathews to Norfolk or Virginia Beach within the district itself.  Furthermore, the Virginia Beach side of the Chesapeake Bay Bridge Tunnel linking Accomack and Northampton with Virginia Beach does not appear to be in the 6th Senate District.   In order to draw a district that included Accomack and Northampton Counties and sufficient population, the General Assembly has drawn a district that crosses a large body of water in three different directions to piece together a district made up of three disparate land areas, twenty to thirty miles apart from one another across barren stretches of water.  “Compactness” of territory was ignored.  This is an abuse of discretion, as well as a violation of Article II, § 6.

In Wilkins v. Davis, 205 Va. 803, 139 S.E.2d 849 (1965), a Congressional redistricting case, the Court stated the principle that districts be arranged so as to make districts that are contiguous and compact and contain as nearly as is practicable an equal number of inhabitants. Id. at 810, 139 S.E.2d at 854.  “Such is the command of § 55 of the Constitution of Virginia….”  Id. (discussing Va. Const. of 1902, § 55, which contained the same language requiring districts be composed of “contiguous and compact territory” as is found in the present Article II, § 6.)  The constitutional command today is just as exacting as then.  

The Court finds that Senate Districts 1, 2, and 6 are unconstitutionally non-contiguous and/or non-compact.

D.
House Districts


The Court finds House Districts 74, 91, and 100 are unconstitutional because they fail to adhere to the “contiguous and compact” requirement of Article II, § 6.  The remaining House Districts, 49, 62, 64, 69, 70, 71, 75, 77, 80, 89, 90, 92, and 95, reasonably comply with the requirements of Article II, § 6, as interpreted by Jamerson.

House District 100 is composed of all of Northampton County, all of Accomack County, part of the City of Norfolk, and part of the Buckroe precinct of the City of Hampton. (Code of Virginia § 24.2-304.1.) (Pls.’ Ex. 24 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 10 (attached).)  Northampton County and Accomack County, located on the Delmarva Peninsula, do not touch, have actual contact with, or are in close proximity to either Hampton or Norfolk, nor is Norfolk contiguous to Hampton.  (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.)

Hampton’s Buckroe Precinct is separated by approximately 17 miles of water across Chesapeake Bay from the Northampton-Accomack part of the district, and from the Norfolk portion of the district by approximately three miles across Hampton Roads. Norfolk is similarly separated from Northampton-Accomack, and neither the Norfolk nor Hampton portions of the district are contiguous to any other landmass in the district.  As in Moon v. Meadows, 952 F. Supp. 1141 (E.D. Va. 1997), aff'd without op., 521 U.S. 1113 (1997), the district in question is merely connected by “barren stretches of water.”  Moon, 952 F. Supp. at 1147.


The court is aware that the 51,400 citizens of Northampton-Accomack fall short of the 70,785 person ideal population necessary to meet the proportional representation requirement of Article II, § 6, the P&E Committees’ deviation goal of plus or minus two-percent, and the requirements of the U.S. Constitution.  The Court is also familiar with unique, natural geographic features that make inclusion of these counties into a truly “contiguous” district an impossibility.  These counties are not contiguous or in actual contact with any other land in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  However, they must, as a matter of right, be afforded representation in the General Assembly.  Therefore, there is an absolute necessity to include these citizens within a House and Senate District, and the General Assembly has great latitude in this assignment—latitude, however, limited by the Constitution and the Voting Rights Act.


In order to reach one another, the residents of the Norfolk portion of the district and the Buckroe precinct in Hampton must travel though at least one other district by motor vehicle travel or traverse miles of Hampton Roads by watercraft.  The residents of the Hampton and Norfolk areas of House District 100 must travel through at least one other district and pay a toll to drive to Northampton-Accomack, and vice-versa, or they must traverse the Chesapeake Bay, approximately 17 miles wide at their nearest points, by watercraft or aircraft. (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.)  The composition of this district imposes an unreasonable burden on the access of its citizens to their delegate, and squarely violates the “contiguous” provision of Article II, § 6 because the residents of Hampton, Norfolk, and the Eastern Shore must all travel through adjacent districts to reach the other portions of the district.

Furthermore, the portions of House District 100 in Hampton and Norfolk do not raise such natural geographical difficulties as the Eastern Shore because they are contiguous and compact with other land.  These citizens also must be given equal representation.  Unlike the plight of the citizens of Northampton-Accomack, this can be accomplished while adhering to the Constitutional requirements of Article II § 6.  Once again, the General Assembly abused its discretion by patching bits and pieces of localities across large bodies of water in order to create a district with Accomack and Northampton, rather than simply crossing the water once to secure enough population to create a district.  The Constitutional mandate prevails over the redistricting criteria adopted by the House and Senate P&E Committees. The criteria set forth by the House and Senate—the policy factors—must be subservient to the Constitution.

House District 74 is, at best, a highly irregularly shaped district.  (Pls.’ Ex. 11, 14, & 16 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 10 (attached).)  Its appearance is like that of an axe.  It has a cutting blade (Charles City County), a long handle (eastern Henrico County), and the grip (the northeastern suburbs of the City of Richmond).   The district crosses over the James River and attaches part of the City of Hopewell to the back, bottom edge of the cutting blade. According to both statistical measures of compactness, this bizarre looking district is the least compact House district in the state.  (Pls.’ Ex. 42, Table 1; Defs.’ Ex. 1, Table 1.)  After carefully examining the evidence, the Court finds that District 74 fails to adhere to the “contiguous and compact” requirements of Article II, § 6.

On direct examination, Dr. Webster testified that as a social scientist examining the compactness of an electoral district, he would consider a number of factors.  He testified that he would first consider the requirements of the state constitution, then consider the criteria established by the legislature and look at other social science considerations. (R., Vol. II at 139-140.)  Without discussion of the Constitutional requirement of “contiguous and compact territory,” he found no district composed of “non-contiguous polygons” based entirely on the criteria set forth by the P&E Committees. (R., Vol. II at 140.)

After considering all of the evidence related to the compactness of House District 74, the Court finds that the district is non-compact because it stretches over a large area of land with a twenty mile long intervening land mass of another district separating the Henrico section from Hopewell. This district contains the lowest rankings on the Polsby-Popper and Reoch measures of compactness using the 2001 criteria which, even if the Court accepted the Defendants' notion of an objective cut-off rather than the requirements of the Constitution of Virginia, would result in a highly suspect district at best.   

House District 74 also fails to adhere to the contiguous requirement of Article II, § 6.  As previously discussed, the contiguous requirement dictates that all land areas of a district must physically touch.  Within District 74, the precincts located in the City of Hopewell, crossing approximately three-quarters of a mile of the open waters of the James River from Charles City County, are not connected by any landmass to any other part of the district.  (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.)  Furthermore, there are no bridges, tunnels, or other motor vehicle ingress and egress connecting Hopewell to any other part of the district.  (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Official St. Transp. Map, 2000-01.)  To access Hopewell from Charles City County, one must travel south by motor vehicle, through District 62, and through other Hopewell precincts before reaching the residents in District 74.  Likewise, there is no ingress or egress from the Richmond-Henrico portions of District 74 to Hopewell and constituents must travel through at least one other district and likely, for the most direct route, through several other districts.  (Defs’ Ex. 39 and 40, Attach. 11, see Va. Dept. of Transp. Maps for the City of Hopewell and County of Prince George.)  
House District 91 has an almost identical division line through the City of Hampton as Senate Districts 1 and 2.  (Pls.’ Ex. 24 (attached); Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 10 (attached); see also, Pls.’ Ex. 26 (attached).)  Residents of the Hampton portion of the district are separated by water, with no access within the district, from the residents of Poquoson and York County.  The residents of Newport News are separated from the Hampton portion of the district and, like the Poquoson and York residents; they must travel through District 92 in order to reach the Hampton part of the district.  


The framers of the Virginia Constitution recognized the wisdom of relatively small, compact areas of territory in contiguity composing electoral districts because such units would share a certain history, culture, economic interests, political beliefs, geographical features, social factors and the many other elements that make up communities of interest.  Undoubtedly, they understood that the most efficient, representative, and functional electoral district should be drawn as such.  Article II, § 6 was designed to place certain spatial restrictions on the composition of electoral districts to insure that they are not drawn to include geographical areas that are separated by significant distances and barriers and have no access to each other without traveling through one or more other districts.  

The Court notes that the “new” concept of “contiguity by water,” if not limited by traditional construction leads to interesting, if not startling, conclusions regarding the geography of Virginia and the meaning of contiguous.  The Court cannot realistically fathom Article II, § 6 permitting contiguity by the waters of the James River of an electoral district composed of the Town of Buchannan in Botetourt County in the Appalachian Mountains, and part of the City of Richmond in the Piedmont and Jamestown in Tidewater, or a district consisting of the City of Poquoson and the City of Fredericksburg, linked together by the Chesapeake Bay and Rappahannock River.

The court finds from the evidence that Senate Districts 1, 2, and 6, and House Districts 74, 91, and 100, are not reasonably accessible to all other parts of the district without having to travel through one or more other districts.  As such, the districts are neither contiguous nor compact as required by Article II, § 6 and are therefore unconstitutional.

IV. Racial Gerrymandering

A.
Discussion

Plaintiffs’ next complain that Senate Districts 2, 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18, and House Districts 49, 62, 63, 64, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 89, 90, 91, 92, and 95, were drawn along racial lines by dividing voters on racial lines and “packing” as many minority voters as possible into just a few newly created political communities in order to minimize the political influence of the minorities.

In Shaw I, 509 U.S. 630, the United States Supreme Court explained that:

“The right to vote freely for the candidate of one’s choice is of the essence of a democratic society . . . .”  For much of our Nation’s history, that right sadly has been denied to many because of race. The Fifteenth Amendment . . . promised unequivocally that “the right of citizens of the United States to vote” no longer would be “denied or abridged . . . by any State on account of race, color, or previous condition of servitude.”

But “[a] number of states . . . refused to take no for an answer and continued to circumvent the fifteenth amendment’s prohibition through the use of both subtle and blunt instruments, perpetuating ugly patterns of pervasive racial discrimination.”  Another of the weapons in the States’ arsenal was the racial gerrymander ‑‑ “the deliberate and arbitrary distortion of district boundaries . . . for [racial] purposes.”  

. . . . 

. . . Congress enacted the Voting Rights Act of 1965 as a dramatic and severe response to the situation . . . . 

. . . .

But it soon became apparent that guaranteeing equal access to the polls would not suffice to root out other racially discriminatory voting practices. Drawing on the “one person, one vote” principle, this Court recognized that “the right to vote can be affected by a dilution of voting power as well as by an absolute prohibition on casting a ballot.” . . . [S]uch schemes violate the Fourteenth Amendment when they are adopted with a discriminatory purpose and have the effect of diluting minority voting strength.  Congress, too, responded to the problem of vote dilution. In 1982, it amended § 2 of the Voting Rights Act to prohibit legislation that results in the dilution of a minority group’s voting strength, regardless of the legislature’s intent. 

It is against this background that we confront the questions [of ] . . . unconstitutional racial gerrymandering . . . . 

. . . . 

. . . What appellants object to is redistricting legislation that is so extremely irregular on its face that it rationally can be viewed only as an effort to segregate the races for purposes of voting, without regard for traditional districting principles and without sufficiently compelling justification . . . .

. . . [W]e have held that the Fourteenth Amendment requires state legislation that expressly distinguishes among citizens because of their race to be narrowly tailored to further a compelling governmental interest . . . . 

These principles apply not only to legislation that contains explicit racial distinctions, but also to those “rare” statutes that, although race neutral, are, on their face, “unexplainable on grounds other than race.” 

Shaw I, 509 U.S. at 639-44 (citations omitted).

In Moon, a three-judge panel summarized the governing principles, stating:

The Supreme Court enunciated the breadth of a plaintiff’s burden in a challenge to a racial gerrymander by stating that:

The plaintiff’s burden is to show, either through circumstantial evidence of a district’s shape and demographics or more direct evidence going to legislative purpose, that race was the predominant factor motivating the legislature’s decision to place a significant number of voters within or without a particular district. To make this showing a plaintiff must prove that the legislature subordinated traditional race‑neutral districting principles including, but not limited to compactness, contiguity, respect for political subdivisions or communities defined by actual shared interests, to racial considerations.  

Miller, 115 S. Ct. at 2486. 

Once a plaintiff proves that race predominates, the State must then justify its use of race under the strict scrutiny standard. Courts apply this rigorous standard because “the purpose of strict scrutiny is to ‘smoke out’ illegitimate uses of race by assuring that [the State] is pursuing a goal important enough to warrant use of a highly suspect tool.”  To satisfy strict scrutiny in this context, “the State must demonstrate that its redistricting legislation is narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling governmental interest.” 

In evaluating the proffered compelling state interest, the Court must determine whether the articulated justification was identified at the time of the plan’s enactment, and be satisfied that the Legislature was seeking to remedy a real violation of law. Once the state establishes a compelling state interest, the Court must determine whether the district was narrowly tailored to achieve that compelling interest. 

Moon, 952 F.Supp. at 1145 (alteration in original) (citations omitted).

In Shaw II, the Supreme Court stated that drawing of racial distinctions is “permissible where a governmental body is pursuing a ‘compelling state interest,’” but “‘the means chosen to accomplish the state’s asserted purpose must be specifically and narrowly framed to accomplish that purpose.’”

Smith v. Beasley, 946 F. Supp. 1174 (D.S.C. 1996) (citations omitted).

Article I, § 1 of the Constitution of Virginia provides 

that all men are by nature equally free and independent and have certain inherent rights, of which, when they enter into a state of society, they cannot, by any compact, deprive or divest their posterity; namely, the enjoyment of life and liberty, with the means of acquiring and possessing property, and pursing and obtaining happiness and safety.


The pertinent part of Article I, § 11 further provides  “that the right to be free from any governmental discrimination upon the basis of religious conviction, race, color, sex, or national origin shall not be abridged.”


The criteria established by the P&E Committees of the General Assembly recognized the necessity to comply with certain constitutionally mandated requirements during the redistricting process.  Specifically, the legislature acknowledged equal population, contiguous and compact territorial requirements, and the federally mandated compliance with the Voting Rights Act.  In the event of a conflict with the traditional or other established criteria such as communities of interest, incumbency, and jurisdictional boundaries, priority was given to the Voting Rights Act and the equal population requirement, and compliance with the state and federal constitutional requirements. (Defs.’ Ex. 20, 26.) 

B.
Senate

The Court finds that all of the Senate districts challenged on the basis of race were unconstitutionally gerrymandered in violation of Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11 of the Constitution of Virginia.  


Senate District 2 is composed of parts of Hampton and Newport News and one Suffolk precinct and one Portsmouth precinct.  Newport News and Hampton have approximately 180,150 and 146,437 persons within their respective city limits.  (Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach. 7 “Precincts VAP”; see also Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach.  7 “CD-A Virginia Senate Plans.”)  Together, Hampton and Newport News have more than 137,000 black residents. (Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach. 7 “Precincts VAP”; see also Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach.  7 “CD-A Virginia Senate Plans.”)  The ideal Senate district should contain 176,963 residents.  (Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach. 3, “Statement of Change.”)  Therefore, in order to create majority-minority district, a district is required to contain at least 88,482 minorities.    The black residents of Hampton and Newport News constitute approximately 42.14% of the population of those cities and other minorities make up the approximately 6.13%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach. 7 “Precincts VAP”; see also Defs.’ Ex. 40, Attach.  7 “CD-A Virginia Senate Plans.”)


The Court finds that in creating the newly drawn Senate District 2 to remain a majority-minority district, in order to assure non-retrogression as provided in the Voting Rights Act, it must be drawn in accord with the three conditions set forth in Thornburg v.Gingles, 478 U.S. 30, 50-51 (1986). First, the minority group must be sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a single-member district.  Id.  Second, the minority population must be politically cohesive.  Id.  Finally, the white majority must vote sufficiently as a bloc to enable it usually to defeat the minority’s candidate of choice. Id.  See also Vera, 517 U.S. at 993 (1996) (discussing application of Gingles.)  

The first Gingles condition refers to the compactness of the minority population, not to the compactness of the contested district.  Vera, 517 U.S. at 997 (1996) (Kennedy, J., concurring).  A review of the census data and other evidence reveals that the Hampton-Newport News area has a large, geographically compact minority population.  Furthermore, the evidence demonstrates that over the past decade the minority population has been politically cohesive. A review of the voting trends show that African Americans in Senate District 2 vote overwhelmingly as a bloc and tend to support the same candidates.  Finally, the evidence demonstrates that the majority white population also sufficiently votes as a bloc at the primary and general election levels to enable it to usually prevent a minority candidate of choice from being elected.   

The evidence is undisputed that Senate District 2 has come across a large body of water from Newport News-Hampton into two different governmental jurisdictions to remove one heavily black populated precinct each from Suffolk and Portsmouth, grabbing isolated minority communities, which are not a part of a compact majority-minority with the Newport News-Hampton core of Senate District 2, and does so in order to make up for minority populations closer to the above mentioned core that it shed.  This is the very act that the U.S. Supreme Court condemned in Bush v. Vera when it rejected a district that 

reache[d] out to grab small and apparently isolated minority communities which, based on the evidence, presented could not possibly form part of a compact majority-minority district, and does so in order to make up for minority population closer to its core that it shed in a further suspect use of race as a proxy to further neighboring incumbents interests. 

Id. at 979.

Article I, § 11 establishes the prohibition against discrimination afforded all citizens under the Constitution of Virginia.  It is no broader than the equal protection clause of the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution.  Archer v. Mayes, 213 Va. 633 (1973).  It can be no less than the protection of the 14th Amendment; thus, it is one and the same. 


The combined population of the Cities of Newport News and Hampton is approximately 326,000 persons, of which more than 137,000 are African-American. Senate District 2, as drawn by the Legislature, has dismantled these cohesive communities, dispersing one community to be placed with another that is separated by a wide body of water with only one means of public access between the communities, the approximately 4-5 mile Hampton Roads Beltway.  As stated by the United States Supreme Court in Shaw I: 

[R]eapportionment is one area in which appearances do matter.  A reapportionment plan that includes in one district individuals who belong to the same race, but who are otherwise widely separated by geographical and political boundaries, and who may have little in common with one another, but the color of their skin, bears an uncomfortable resemblance to political apartheid.  It reinforces the perception that members of the same racial group—regardless of their age, education, economic status, or the community in which they live—think alike, share the same political interests and will prefer the same candidates at the polls.  We have rejected such perceptions elsewhere as impermissible racial stereotypes.

Id., 509 U.S. at 647.
The more than 20,000 Suffolk and Portsmouth residents are unquestionably widely separated by geographical and political boundaries from the rest of the district.  They have been removed from their communities in utter disregard of traditional redistricting principles.  If complying with § 5 of the Voting Rights Act to preserve the existing majority-minority districts was the goal of the General Assembly, the core of District 2, centered in Newport News and Hampton, contains more than enough minority voters to preserve a majority-minority district.  Under the United States Constitution (and similarly under Article I, § 11), the Commonwealth has the burden to demonstrate a compelling reason or justification for the districts expansion across Hampton Roads into Suffolk and Portsmouth.  The Court finds no compelling justification for the district’s expansion across Hampton Roads into Suffolk and Portsmouth.  As a result of crossing Hampton Roads, these citizens have been removed from their communities and the Thirteenth Senatorial District with the effect of reducing their influence by the denial of the opportunity to effectively exercise the electoral franchise.  The placement of these citizens with Newport News-Hampton directly diminishes their opportunity to elect representatives of their choice from their communities.  The influence of those citizens and their right to effectively exercise the electoral franchise free from governmental discrimination has been abridged in violation of Article I, § 11.  

The Court acknowledges that the General Assembly must conform to the Voting Rights Act to prevent “retrogression,” however 

nonretrogression is not a license for the state to do whatever it deems necessary to continue electoral success; it merely mandates that the minority’s opportunity to elect representatives of its choice not be diminished, directly or indirectly by the State’s actions.  

Vera, 517 U.S. at 983.  “A reapportionment plan would not be narrowly tailored to the goal of avoiding retrogression if the State went beyond what was reasonably necessary to avoid retrogression.”  Shaw I, 509 U.S. at 655. 

The Voting Rights Act, with respect to “retrogression,” has the limited substantive goal “to insure that no voting-procedure changes would be made that would lead to retrogression in the position of racial minorities with respect to their effective exercise of the electoral franchise.”  Vera, 517 U.S. at 983 (citations omitted.) Nonretrogression does not command the state to do whatever is necessary to insure continued electoral success, but “merely mandates that the minority’s opportunity to elect representatives of its choice not be diminished, directly or indirectly, by the state’s actions.”  Id.


One must then conclude that the voting age population of a majority-minority district must be of sufficient strength to give the minority groups a reasonable opportunity to elect a candidate of its choice.  It need not be composed of such voting power to give a “safe seat,” a “lock” on an election, or “guaranteed” electoral success, but only a reasonable opportunity to elect the candidate of its choice. (See also R., Vol. I at 248-256.)


The term “chance” is defined as “the possibility of an indicated or a favorable outcome in an uncertain situation; the measure or strength of possibility or degree of likelihood of such an outcome.” Webster’s Third International Dictionary 373 (1993).   The term “reasonable” is defined as “not excessive.” Id. at 1892.  “Toss up” is defined as “a matter of chance; an even bet or choice”. Id. at 2414.   “Excess” is described as “something that exceeds what is usual, proper, proportionate, or specified.” Id. at 792. (See also R., Vol. I at 248-256; R., Vol.III at 58-65.)  “Packing” defeats chance. 


Defendants’ expert, Dr. Lowen, defined “packing” as meaning so many minorities have been stuffed into

one or more [minority] districts that you have way overdone it and …. you have wasted them; if you will.  They will for sure control that district and thereby you have decreased the number of districts that blacks might have control [or influence].  

(R. Vol. II at 335-336.)  Dr. Lowen states that Plaintiffs’ expert’s definition is the same as his. (R. Vol. II at 339.)


The Court must determine the voting power necessary to provide the majority-minority districts with a reasonable opportunity to elect candidates of their choice.  Plaintiffs’ expert testified that a black voting age population (“BVAP”) of “49 point something to 51 point something” is all that is necessary to provide a reasonable opportunity for the minority group to elect a candidate of its choice.  (R. Vol. I at 254-256.)  However, defendants’ contend that a BVAP of 51.5% is the minimum voting strength needed to give a reasonable opportunity for the minority population to elect the candidate of its choice, and the range of the BVAP should be somewhere between 51.5% to 60% or 61%.  (R. Vol. III at 42-50.)  Dr. Lowen testified, citing Plaintiffs’ expert’s research, that “[a] simple rule of thumb would be a presumption of packing if the projected vote for the minority candidate of choice is greater than the 60% landslide level.”  (R. Vol. III, page 18.)  Dr. Lowen concluded, “if blacks are going to win 60% of the votes then we can call that district packed.” (R. Vol. III at 18.) 


Defendants’ evidence reveals that every minority candidate in every majority-minority Senate district over the last decade has won election from those Districts.
 (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 8.)   During the 1990’s, the minority candidates of choice in Senate District 2 received 64.1% of the vote in 1992 and 80.1% of the vote in 1999 with a BVAP in the district of 54%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 9.)  In Senate District 5, the minority candidate of choice received 75.5% of the vote in 1991 and 76.7% in 1995 with a BVAP of 55% in the district.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 9.)  An examination of Senate District 16 reveals that the minority candidate of choice received 60.1% vote in 1991 and that the district had a BVAP of 56%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 9.)  In Senate District 9, with a 55% BVAP and a minority VAP of 58.7%, the candidate of choice for the minority community apparently went unchallenged throughout the 1990’s. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 8.)  Senate District 18 with a BVAP of 56% gave the minority candidate of choice 51.9% of the votes in 1991 and 58.4% in 1995. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 9.)


In all the Senate Districts except District 18, the minority candidates of choice won by landslide proportions with a BVAP of 54% to 56%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 8 & 9.)  This election history strongly suggests that minority districts do not need 54% to 56% BVAP to have a reasonable opportunity to elect candidates of its choice, and certainly do not need a higher BVAP as the Defendants’ expert suggests.  Thus, it would appear that Defendants’ expert’s opinion that a minimum BVAP of 51.5% is required to give the minority group the reasonable opportunity to elect a candidate of its choice is sound reasoning. (R., Vol. III at 42-43.)  Evidence that 54% to 56% BVAP produces unchallenged elections and landslide victories for the majority-minority candidate demonstrates that the districts are packed and that a lesser percentage of minority voters is required to provide a reasonable opportunity to elect their candidates of choice.    

 
The Court, applying Dr. Lowen’s definition, finds from the evidence that packing has occurred in all the contested majority-minority Senate districts.  Therefore, the Court finds that the General Assembly impermissibly violated Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11 of the Virginia Constitution when it created the legislative districts in question.  The Court acknowledges that the Voting Rights Act requires the legislature to consider race when drawing legislative districts; however, the state has failed to make its showing under the “strict scrutiny” test; and, as discussed, the evidence demonstrates that the legislature went beyond what was reasonably necessary to comply with the Federal requirements. 

Senate District 13, as discussed previously, was “racially gerrymandered” by the removal of more than 20,000 citizens from the Suffolk and Portsmouth communities and placing them in Senate District 2.

The Court finds that the General Assembly has subordinated traditional race-neutral principles, such as governmental jurisdictional lines, geographical features, and other social, economic, educational, and cultural factors that make up communities of interest to race in creating the Senate districts without a sufficiently compelling state interest or justification.  

C.
House of Delegates


Plaintiffs challenge House of Delegates Districts 49, 62, 63, 64, 69, 70, 71, 74, 75, 77, 80, 83, 89, 90, 91, 92, and 95, on the grounds of racial gerrymandering.  


The obvious and stated purpose behind the creation of House District 49 was to create a multi-minority district in Northern Virginia, and the General Assembly was successful in this task.  There is no doubt that race and, more precisely, ethnicity were factors in creation of this district, however it is clear to the Court that while this was a predominate factor, the district was the direct result of a bipartisan response to community efforts aimed at securing representation of the unique and diverse community along the Columbia Turnpike.  The result of these efforts is a district that has been narrowly tailored to meet the interest of the community, however traditional redistricting criteria were considered and played an integral part in the creation of this district.  The result of the General Assembly’s deliberative effort is a district that is contiguous and compact and intertwines traditional districting considerations with the needs of this distinct, compact, ethnically diverse community.  Therefore, the Court finds that while the General Assembly considered race in an effort to create a multi-minority district, there was no violation of the Article I, §§ 1 and 11 because the district was narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest and did not subordinate traditional factors to race any more than was necessary to comply with the Commonwealth’s goal.  

House Districts 63 and 75 are unique among the minority-majority districts.  Throughout the 1990’s they contained a BVAP of 57.8% and 57%, respectively, yet continuously reelected the same white, Democratic incumbents, who presumably are the candidates of choice for the majority-minority voters.  While on its face it appears that these districts might be racially gerrymandered because they contain BVAPs of 57.8% and 56.2% under the current plan, Plaintiffs failed to present a detailed election history of those districts or other evidence to substantiate their claim.  Therefore, Plaintiffs failed to carry their burden to prove that more minorities are “packed” into these districts than are necessary to elect candidates of their choice.  


Additionally, the Court finds that both districts are reasonably contiguous and compact in accordance with Article IV, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution.


A careful examination of District 64 does not reveal any attempt at racial discrimination on the part of General Assembly in the creation of the district.   The alleged discrimination apparently centers on the convergence of district boundaries around the City of Franklin, specifically the manner in which the City of Franklin, Southampton County, and Isle of Wright County are split.  However, the history of the districts in this area reveals that some of the district boundaries act to preserve the existing district line and, when considered in their entirety, district 64 and adjoining district 75 do not appear to be the result of discrimination.  Furthermore, a review of the area of the alleged discrimination reveals that any change to make those areas of the districts comply with jurisdictional boundaries would not have any significant impact on the racial composition of either district.  The mere fact that it could have been drawn in a more attractive manner or in closer compliance with jurisdictional boundaries does not demonstrate or prove racial discrimination.  Therefore, this Court concludes that District 64 is not racially gerrymandered and is in compliance with Article 1, §§ 1 and 11.


As previously discussed, House District 74 is the oddly shaped district stretching from Northern Henrico County eastward to Charles City County and across the James into the City of Hopewell.  (See Part III. D., supra; see also Pls.’ Ex. 16 (attached).)  The evidence reveals that access to the Henrico County part of the district from Hopewell requires travel through approximately 20 miles of District 62 and/or District 70.  Numerous portions of the district cannot be reached without travelling outside the district.  The Henrico portion of the district is a densely populated, urban area with a compact and cohesive minority population adjacent to one of Virginia’s larger cities, Richmond.  The densely populated core of the district, located in Northern Henrico, is connected to Charles City County and Hopewell by a narrow strip of rural, sparsely populated land in Eastern Henrico County (a “land” bridge or “corridor”), that has an overwhelmingly majority white population.  Charles City County is a rural, predominately black county located on the north side of the James River. The Hopewell part of the district, located on the south side of the James, is a smaller urban area comprised of a compact, cohesive minority population.  The only similarity the 63.5% African-Americans within the district have in common is the color of their skin. These three distinct groups of African Americans have been “packed” together over a large, dispersed area with prominent natural geographic barriers and no historical communities of interest for the sole purpose of creating a majority-minority district. 

The district has a WVAP of 37% and the BVAP is 59.7%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 10.)    The 20 mile “land bridge” through the 70%-plus white population area of Eastern Henrico County connects the relatively small, heavily populated urban minority community of Northern Henrico County with the large, sparsely populated and rural minority population of Charles City County, which is connected only by water to the small, densely populated, heavily minority area of Hopewell. (Pls.’ Ex. 16 (attached).)  The correlation between district borders and race is strikingly equivalent to the Texas congressional district boundaries rejected by the Supreme Court in Vera, where the court stated that 

[i]n numerous instances, the correlation between race and district boundaries is nearly perfect….  The borders of [the districts] change from block to block, from one side of the street to the other, and traverse streets, bodies of water, and commercially developed areas in seemingly arbitrary fashion until one realizes that those corridors connect minority populations.

Id., 517 U.S. at 962 (emphasis added.)  This reveals the same pattern demonstrated in Senate District 2.  Isolated groups of minority communities from two different political subdivisions which could not possibly be a part of the core of a compact majority-minority community are “grabbed” to replace a minority population that was packed into minority districts closer to the core, thus diminishing their overall influence and forcing the legislature to “reach” to Charles City County and Hopewell to create a majority-minority district. 

The City of Richmond and the large, adjoining counties of Henrico and Chesterfield contain a total population of 719,993, of which 226,225 are African American.  (Defs.’ 39, Attach. 7 “Precinct VAP”.)  The African American population is centered in Richmond and the county precincts adjacent to the city. (Pls.’ Ex. 14 & 16 (attached).)  The evidence shows that this community is large, compact, and politically cohesive.  If the goal of the Legislature was to comply with § 5 of the Voting Rights Act to prevent retrogression of the existing majority-minority districts, then four compact, politically cohesive majority-minority districts can be created in the Richmond, Henrico, and Chesterfield area without stretching across vast geographical distances and prominent natural barriers and ignoring race-neutral criteria.  

Instead, the Court finds that District 74 reaches out to “grab” small, isolated minority communities in Charles City County and the two precincts in the City of Hopewell in order to “preserve” a majority-minority district with a population that shares no common traditional, economic, or community of interests with Henrico and serves as a suspect use of race as a proxy to further the neighboring incumbents interests. Vera, 517 U.S. 952 (1996).      


The election history of District 74 shows that since the primary election of June 1995, a black male was elected in the 1995 General Election with 66.1% of the votes cast, in the 1997 General Election with 79.5% of the vote, and was unopposed in 1999. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2, 4, & 5.)  As previously discussed, these are, by definition, “landslide” victories, and the actual voting pattern of this district clearly establishes that it has been “packed” with minority voters.  (R., Vol. II at 335-336.)


Having already determined that the General Assembly impermissibly removed the minority-majority precincts from the City of Hopewell and placed them in House District 74, the Court now finds that House District 62, which contains the remainder of the City of Hopewell, was racially gerrymandered.  In dividing Hopewell along racial lines, all of the residents of the city were discriminated against on the basis of race, regardless of whether they were placed in a minority or majority district.  Such a division on the basis of race is discriminatory and violates the protections of Article 1, §§ 1 and 11 of the Virginia Constitution.

The City of Hampton, with a total population of 146,437 and an African-American population of 66,169, has the population required to support two complete house districts, but instead it is divided among three districts.  (Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 7 “Precincts VAP”; see also Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach.  7 “CD-A Virginia House Plans.”)  The boundary between District 91 and District 92 separates all of the heavily populated white areas of Hampton, Poquoson, and York County and places them in District 91, while heavily black precincts of Hampton are used to create District 92.  (Pls.’ Ex. 24 (attached).)  The remaining heavily black population of Hampton is separated from the community and placed into District 95, which is a majority-minority district whose core is comprised of heavily black precincts from Newport News.  The total population of Newport News is 180,150 people, of those 71,463 are black, which is many more than is needed to preserve District 95 as a majority-minority district and prevent retrogression. (Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach. 7 “Precincts VAP”; see also Defs.’ Ex. 39, Attach.  7 “CD-A Virginia House Plans.”)
District 92 is comprised of part of the City of Hampton.  The District has an African-American population of 61.3% and a BVAP of 59.3%, and a white population of 33.7% with a WVAP of 36%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 10.)  The eastern portion of District 92 borders District 91 with the boundary lines running generally from north to south.  The population east of this boundary in District 91 is heavily white, while the population to the west of this line is heavily black.  The boundary line changes direction at the northeast corner of the district and runs in a generally east-west direction.  Again, the population north of the boundary in District 91 is heavily white, while the population south of the line is again heavily black.  (Defs.’ Ex. 3, Map 92-B.)  It has four split precincts, with Buckroe, Fox Hill, and Magruder precincts split with District 91, and the Northhampton precinct split with District 95. (Code of Virginia § 24.2-304.01.)  The three split precincts, Fox Hill, Buckroe and Magruder share these same characteristics. In fact, if one traces the common boundary line between District 91 and District 92, in every instance except one, the boundary correlates with race, with the heavily white populations in the majority-white District 91 and heavily black populations in majority-minority District 92 (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Map 92-B.) 


Actual election results show that from the General Election of 1991 until the 1999 General Election, the female minority candidate of choice was unopposed.  In the 1999 General Election, the minority candidate of choice defeated a white candidate by receiving 79% of the votes cast. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 2 & 4.)  Once again, the minority candidate of choice won the election overwhelmingly in a majority-minority district by almost 20% more than what is considered a “landslide” victory.


District 95 is composed of part of the City of Hampton and part of the City of Newport News.  It has two split precincts, South Morrison and Northampton.  South Morrison adjoins white majority District 93 and Northampton is split with District 92.  (Code of Virginia  § 24.2-304.01.)  The District has an African-American population of 61.3% and BVAP of 58.1% and a white population of 34.9%, with a WVAP of 38%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 10.)  Its boundary line with District 94, a majority white district, reveals heavily white precincts within the District 94 side of the border and heavily black precincts on the District 95 side of the line. (Defs.’ Ex. 3, Map 92 B.)


Election results for the past decade show that the female candidate of choice of the minority community was unopposed in the General Elections of 1995, 1997 and 1999.  In the 1993 General Election, the female minority candidate of choice received 79.9% of the votes cast in her initial campaign for this seat.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 4.)  The BVAP in the district was 59% at the time. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2 & 4.)  In the 1991 General Election, a minority candidate of choice received 83.9% of the votes cast, again, in a district with BVAP of 59%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2 & 4.)  These results demonstrate more examples of “landslide” wins far in excess of the 60% definition.   More importantly, the results demonstrate that two different minority candidates have overwhelmingly won elections in this district.  Thus, by all objective evidence, one must conclude that, by the generally recognized and accepted professional definitions, this district is, like District 92, “packed” because there are far too many minorities within the district to merely give the minority community a “reasonable” chance to win the election.  Instead, the district contains (i.e. is “packed” with) such high numbers of African-Americans that they will overwhelmingly control this district, and their potential to influence or control adjoining districts 91, 93, and 94 is thereby diminished.  (R. Vol. II at 335-336.)


 The Court finds from the evidence that the community of Hampton has been needlessly divided and that its citizens have been parceled out into three electoral districts on the basis of the color of their skin.  Rather than being represented by two delegates elected from a united community, Hampton has been separated against all traditional race-neutral principles, and race was the predominant factor for the separation and drawing of the boundaries for Districts 91, 92, and 95.  


The election history over the past decade for District 69 shows that in the 1995 General Election, the incumbent Democratic white candidate won that contest against a black Republican candidate by a margin of 73.5% to 26.5%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 5.)  This same history reveals that in District 77 in the 1991 General Election the incumbent white Democratic candidate defeated a black independent candidate by a margin of 52.8% to 47.1%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 5.)  These elections are the only General Elections that a minority candidate has ever lost when paired against a white candidate in a majority-minority district, and these losses were against long-time incumbent Democratic officeholders.  During the past decade, no black Democratic candidate has ever lost a General Election in any majority-minority district.   (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2, 4, & 5.) 


An examination of the election results from District 70 reveals that three black candidates have won elections in this district.  The present Delegate from this district was elected in 1993 and won re-election in 1995, polling 59% against a white candidate who received 34.9% of the vote and a black independent that captured 6.1% of the votes.  The incumbent Delegate was unopposed in 1997 and 1999. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2, 4, & 5.)


Two minority candidates of choice have been elected from District 71 during the past decade, each having opposition only once, and each defeating the same opponent by receiving 88.7% and 85.5% of the votes with a BVAP of 53%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 4.)


In District 80 the minority candidate of choice, with a BVAP of 61%, either won a landslide or ran unopposed throughout the past decade. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2 & 4.)  In 1991, the minority candidate of choice was unopposed in the General Election. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Tables 2 & 4.)  The incumbent delegate defeated a white independent candidate with 79.2% of the vote in 1993, and defeated a white Republican candidate in 1995 with 76.9% of the vote.  (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 4.)  The incumbent minority candidate of choice was unopposed in the 1997 and 1999 General Elections. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 2.)   


Since winning District 89 in 1991 with 80.3% of the vote, the same minority candidate of choice has represented the district and been unopposed in subsequent elections. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 2&4.)  The district’s BVAP during that time was 64%. 

District 90, with a BVAP of 58%, has been represented by the same minority candidate of choice for the past ten years and was unopposed in the General Elections for 1991, 1993, 1995 and 1997. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 2.)  In the 1999 General Election, the incumbent won 50% of the vote against a white Republican and a white independent. (Defs.’ Ex. 13, Table 5.)


The Court finds from the evidence that, with the exception of the 1991, 1992, 1993 and 1995 General Elections in District 70, the 1995 General Election in District 74, the 1991 General Election in District 77, and the 1999 General Election in District 90, no majority-minority candidate of choice has ever received less that 74% of the vote cast in any majority-minority district over the past decade.  This degree of victory far exceeds the threshold determination for “landslide” victories and indicates that the districts have been “packed” with more minority voters that are necessary to provide a reasonable opportunity for electoral success and prevent retrogression.  


The evidence shows that 61 precincts throughout the entire state were split among the House districts (Defs.’ Ex. 25 at 9) with 35 of the splits being among the contested districts and the adjoining non-contested districts, and 12 splits among the contested districts.  Va. Code § 24.2-304.01.  The Court finds that inclusion of 77% of all the split precincts within the contested districts is not by coincidence or happenstance.  Rather, this demonstrates a concerted effort or pattern to concentrate minority voters into heavily populated majority-minority districts on the basis of race in violation of Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11 of the Virginia Constitution.   

The Court observes in the case at bar many of the same factors found in Moon v. Meadows.  That case involved the redistricting of the Third Congressional District of Virginia.  The Third District, at that time, contained many of the same territorial jurisdictions, such as Hampton, Hopewell, Newport News, Norfolk, Petersburg, Portsmouth, Richmond, Suffolk, Charles City County, Henrico County, Prince George County, and Surry County, as do the contested districts. Moon, 952 F. Supp. 1144-45.


The Court finds from the evidence, as the Moon Court found, a general disregard for keeping regions and localities intact, the abandonment of the constitutional requirement of contiguous and compact territory, the excessive number of split cities and counties, and the inordinate use of split precincts combine to illustrate forcefully the subordination of the traditional redistricting principles to race.  The inevitable conclusion is that being black was the predominant factor in being chosen as a part of a population making up the majority-minority districts.  See id. at 1147-48. 


The Court finds that more black voters have been placed into the majority-minority House of Delegates and Senatorial districts under the 2001 redistricting plan than are necessary or reasonable to give the minority group a reasonable opportunity to elect a candidate of its choice as mandated by § 5 of the Voting Rights Act.  The Plaintiffs have proven that the Commonwealth discriminated against the citizens of the challenged districts by subordinating traditional redistricting principles to race and is therefore in violation of the Voting Rights Act and Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11.   

V.
Conclusion

As to Count IV, the Court finds from the evidence that Senate Districts 1, 2, and 6 are in violation of Article II, § 6 of the Constitution of Virginia as previously discussed.  Although bizarrely shaped, Senate Districts 5, 9, 13, 16, and 18, are reasonably contiguous and compact, pursuant to Article II, § 6.   The Court finds that parts of Senate Districts 5, 13, and 18, while being separated by various bodies of water, have reasonable access within the districts to all other parts of the district by a series of bridges and tunnels.  Therefore, the Court finds the districts are in compliance with a reasonable, practical, common sense application of the Constitutional mandate set forth in Article II, § 6 and approved by Jamerson.


No evidence was presented as to Senate Districts 3 and 4 and the Court makes no finding or ruling.  


The Court finds that House Districts 74, 91, and 100 violate the dictates of Article II, § 6 for the reasons heretofore announced.  House Districts 49, 62, 75, 92, and 95 are found to be in compliance with the requirements of Article II, § 6.  A free ferry provides access from the west bank of District 64 to James City County on the opposite shore, and while this raises some question as to conformity with Article II, § 6, the Court, when viewing the totality of the evidence, resolves the doubt in favor of the Commonwealth and finds the district to be reasonably contiguous and compact.    


House Districts 69, 70, 71, 77, 80, 89, and 90, while bizarre in shape and separated by bodies of water, all contain bridges that permit travel within the districts.  Therefore, the Court finds that these districts are composed of “contiguous and compact territory,” as dictated by Article II, § 6 of the Virginia Constitution and Jamerson.


House District 83 was not prosecuted by the plaintiffs and no finding or ruling is made by the Court.  


As to Count I, racial gerrymandering, the Court finds from the evidence that this Count has been proven beyond any reasonable doubt the Court might have.  The defendants have maintained that they adopted criteria, they followed the criteria, that race was a factor in drawing the district lines, but not the predominant factor and that the statutes are presumed to be valid.  Statistical evidence was put forth by the defendants that it was just as probable that race was not the predominant factor as it was that race was the predominant factor.  Plaintiffs have overcome the presumptions in the Defendants’ favor.  The evidence clearly demonstrates that the citizens of Hampton, particularly those in the Buckroe Precinct, Portsmouth, Suffolk, Hopewell, Poquoson, Mathews County, James City County, Newport News, Norfolk, Accomack County, and Northampton County, white and black alike, with whom they share common goals, culture, economics, life-styles, and associations, have been removed from their communities of interests and placed into districts in which they have little, if any, common interest, and are unreasonably burdened in many instances by significant distances and natural geographic barriers creating  a lack of access to one another.


The Court sees before it the unwarranted results of the multi-division of cities and counties; the nearly exclusive use of split precincts in the challenged districts; the failure to adhere to jurisdictional boundaries and keep communities of interest together wherever reasonably possible; and the retreat of the General Assembly from the application of traditional race-neutral redistricting principles.  


All of the challenged majority-minority districts created by Va. Code § 24.2-303.1 and Va. Code § 24.2-304.01 are racially gerrymandered in violation of Article I, § 1 and Article I, § 11 of the Constitution of Virginia.  The Court finds that the General Assembly of Virginia has subordinated traditional redistricting principles to race in drawing district lines.  The Court having found that race was the predominate factor in drawing district lines has applied strict scrutiny to determine if race was necessary to further some compelling state interest and in all of the challenged districts the Commonwealth has failed to show that the electoral districts for the House of Delegates or Senate achieve any compelling state interest or action that it is narrowly tailored to fit such interest.

VI.
Decree


For all the reasons previously stated and in conformity with the Constitution of the Unites States and the Constitution of the Commonwealth of Virginia, it is therefore ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED that Va. Code §§ 24.2-303.1 and 24.2-304.01 be and are from this day of no further force and effect on the grounds that they violate Article I § 1, Article I, § 11, and Article II, § 6 of the Constitution of Virginia.  


It is further ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED that Defendants, their employees, agents, and all person acting in concert therein are enjoined from conducting any election of any persons as a representative from any presently enacted electoral district to serve as a member of the Virginia House of Delegates or the Senate of Virginia until the General Assembly of Virginia enacts and the Governor signs new redistricting statutes for the House of Delegates and the Senate Districts that abide by all of the requirements of the Constitution of the United States and Constitution of Virginia, specifically adhering to Article 1, § 1, Article 1, § 11, and Article II, § 6, and the other laws of the Commonwealth, and it is FURTHER ORDERED that an election to elect representatives from each new electoral district enacted for the House of Delegates be conducted in 2002, as provided by law, to take office as members of the House of Delegates upon convening of the 2003 session of the General Assembly of Virginia. 


An appropriate formal Decree shall be entered forthwith. 


This opinion is entered this ____ day of March, 2002.


___________________________________________


Judge, Circuit Court of the City of Salem


Richard C. Pattisall, Chief Judge, Twenty-third Judicial Circuit

� The Reoch/ Geographic Dispersion Method measures the level of compactness by determining the ratio of the area of the district to the smallest circle that can be superimposed over the district.  The most compact district would be a circle, which would have a ratio of one (1).    


� The Polsby-Popper/ Perimeter Compactness Method computes a ratio based in the area of the district compared to a circle that equals the length of the perimeter of the district.  Again, the most compact district would be a circle, which would have a ratio of one (1).


� There was some testimony concerning a law review article authored by Professors Niemi and Pildus in which they attempted to develop an “objective cutoff” for the Polsby-Popper and Reock compactness measures.  The Court found testimony in this area unhelpful because these “cutoffs” were developed for congressional districts, and the testimony was in conflict as to applicability of this standard to state legislative districts.


� The adjective “compact” has been used in the English language since at least 1398.  The Oxford English Dictionary (2d ed., 1999 CD-ROM).


� Code of Virginia, Title 15.2, Chapter 32, is titled Boundary Changes of Towns and Cities.


� “On April 11, Delegate Jay W. DeBoer presented to the House of Delegates House Resolution 3, ‘a resolution to adopt as the redistricting criteria the criteria adopted by the 1991 House Committee on Privileges and Elections’; it was referred to the House Privileges and Elections Committee where it failed for lack of action and was left in committee.”  (Defs’ Ex. 39, Attach. 17-Summary of Legislative History, at 10.)


�  A general allegation was made in the Plaintiffs’ Amended Bill of Complaint, ¶ 23 that Senate District 6 was not contiguous; however, it was not mentioned in Count IV addressing contiguous and compactness of the House and Senate Districts and no relief was sought.  Although Senate District 6 is not one of the contested Senatorial Districts enumerated in Count IV, the Court will consider the contiguity of the district on the basis of the evidence the Court has before it.


�  Senate District 2 has a White Voting Age Population  (“WVAP”) of 39.9%, a BVAP of 55.8% and an American Indian VAP of 0.6%, an Asian VAP of 1.7% and a Hispanic VAP of 2.1%.  The minority VAP of this district is 60.1%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)  Note that “Hispanic,” as used in the Census data, is a linguistic definition, not a separate racial category.  The category includes individuals that are otherwise counted as “white”, “black”, and “other”.


	


Senate District 5 has a WVAP of 39.2%, a BVAP of 55.9%, and American Indian VAP of 0.5%, an Asian VAP of 2.5% and a Hispanic VAP of 2.1%.  The minority VAP is 60.8%. (Defs.’ Ex. 11.) 





Senate District 9 has a WVAP of 41.3%, BVAP of 55%, an American Indian VAP of 0.9%, an Asian VAP of 1.5% and a Hispanic VAP of 1.3%.  The minority VAP is 58.7%. (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)





Senate District 16 has a WVAP of 39.1%, BVAP of 55.9%, an American Indian VAP if 0.5%, an Asian VAP of 1.3%, and a Hispanic VAP of 3.9%.  The minority VAP is 60.9%. (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)





Senate District 18 has a WVAP of 39.5%, BVAP of 55.9%, an American Indian VAP of 0.4%, an Asian VAP of 0.6% and a Hispanic VAP of 1.1%.  The minority VAP is 60.5%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)





All of the Senate districts have less than 40% WVAP except District 9 with 41.3%.  All of the Districts have minority VAP of more than 60% except District 9 with 58.7%.  (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)
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